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TITLE 77: PUBLIC HEALTH
CHAPTER I: DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH
SUBCHAPTER d: LONG-TERM CARE FACILITIES

PART 300

SKILLED NURSING AND INTERMEDIATE CARE FACILITIES CODE

SUBPART A: GENERAL PROVISIONS
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Information to Be Made Available to the Public By the Department
Information to Be Made Available to the Public by the Licensee
Municipal Licensing
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Monitor and Receivership
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Notice of Violation

Administrative Warning
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Reports of Correction

Conditions for Assessment of Penalties

Calculation of Penalties (Repealed)

Notice of Penalty Assessment; Response by Facility
Consideration of Factors for Assessing Penalties
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Quiarterly List of Violators (Repealed)
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Alcoholism Treatment Programs In Long-Term Care Facilities
Department May Survey Facilities Formerly Licensed

Supported Congregate Living Arrangement Demonstration (Repealed)
Waivers

Definitions

Incorporated and Referenced Materials

SUBPART B: ADMINISTRATION

Administrator

SUBPART C: POLICIES

Resident Care Policies

Determination of Need Screening and Request for Resident Criminal History
Record Information

Admission, Retention and Discharge Policies

Criminal History Background Checks for Persons Who Were Residents on May
10, 2006 (Repealed)

Identified Offenders

Discharge Planning for Identified Offenders

Transfer of an Identified Offender

Contract Between Resident and Facility

Residents' Advisory Council

Personnel Policies

Whistleblower Protection

Initial Health Evaluation for Employees

Nursing Assistants

Health Care Worker Background Check

Resident Attendants

Registry of Certified Nursing Assistants

Certified Nursing Assistant Interns

Student Interns

Disaster Preparedness

Restraints

Nonemergency Use of Physical Restraints

Emergency Use of Physical Restraints

Unnecessary, Psychotropic, and Antipsychotic Medications
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Contacting Local Law Enforcement

Infection Prevention and Control
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Volunteer Program
Language Assistance Services

SUBPART H: MEDICATIONS

Medication Policies and Procedures
Compliance with Licensed Prescriber's Orders
Administration of Medication

Labeling and Storage of Medications

Control of Medications

SUBPART |: RESIDENT AND FACILITY RECORDS

Resident Record Requirements

Content of Medical Records

Records Pertaining to Residents' Property
Retention and Transfer of Resident Records
Other Resident Record Requirements

Staff Responsibility for Medical Records
Retention of Facility Records

Other Facility Record Requirements

SUBPART J: FOOD SERVICE

Director of Food Services

Dietary Staff in Addition to Director of Food Services
Hygiene of Dietary Staff

Diet Orders

Meal Planning

Therapeutic Diets (Repealed)

Scheduling Meals

Menus and Food Records

Food Preparation and Service
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178  Section
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182

183 SUBPART M: WATER SUPPLY AND SEWAGE DISPOSAL
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185  Section

186  300.2610 Codes

187  300.2620 Water Supply
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189  300.2640 Plumbing
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191 SUBPART N: DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS
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193

194  Section
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SUBPART P: RESIDENT'S RIGHTS
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Recreational and Activities Services (Repealed)

Individual Treatment Plan (Repealed)

Health Services (Repealed)

Medical Services (Repealed)

Dental Services (Repealed)

Optometric Services (Repealed)

Audiometric Services (Repealed)

Podiatric Services (Repealed)

Occupational Therapy Services (Repealed)

Nursing and Personal Care (Repealed)

Resident Care Services (Repealed)

Record Keeping (Repealed)

Food Service (Repealed)

Furnishings, Equipment and Supplies (New and Existing Facilities) (Repealed)
Design and Construction Standards (New and Existing Facilities) (Repealed)

SUBPART R: DAYCARE PROGRAMS

Day Care in Long-Term Care Facilities

SUBPART S: PROVIDING SERVICES TO PERSONS
WITH SERIOUS MENTAL ILLNESS

Applicability of Subpart S

Comprehensive Assessments for Residents with Serious Mental Iliness Residing
in Facilities Subject to Subpart S

Reassessments for Residents with Serious Mental IlIness Residing in Facilities
Subject to Subpart S

Individualized Treatment Plan for Residents with Serious Mental Iliness Residing
in Facilities Subject to Subpart S

General Requirements for Facilities Subject to Subpart S

Psychiatric Rehabilitation Services for Facilities Subject to Subpart S

Discharge Plans for Residents with Serious Mental llIness Residing in Facilities
Subject to Subpart S

Work Programs for Residents with Serious Mental Illness Residing in Facilities
Subject to Subpart S

Community-Based Rehabilitation Programs for Residents with Serious Mental
Iliness Residing in Facilities Subject to Subpart S

Personnel for Providing Services to Persons with Serious Mental Iliness for
Facilities Subject to Subpart S
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304 DEMONSTRATION PROGRAM FOR PROVIDING
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306

307  Section

308  300.6000 Applicability of Subpart T (Repealed)
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316  300.6040 General Requirements for Facilities Subject to Subpart T (Repealed)
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319  300.6049 Emergency Use of Restraints for Facilities Subject to Subpart T (Repealed)

320 300.6050 Psychiatric Rehabilitation Services for Facilities Subject to Subpart T (Repealed)
321  300.6060 Discharge Plans for Residents of Facilities Subject to Subpart T (Repealed)

322  300.6070 Work Programs for Residents of Facilities Subject to Subpart T (Repealed)

323  300.6080 Community-Based Rehabilitation Programs for Residents of Facilities Subject to
324 Subpart T (Repealed)

325 300.6090 Personnel for Providing Services to Residents of Facilities Subject to Subpart T
326 (Repealed)

327  300.6095 Training and Continuing Education for Facilities Subject to Subpart T (Repealed)
328

329 SUBPART U: ALZHEIMER'S SPECIAL CARE UNIT OR CENTER PROVIDING
330 CARE TO PERSONS WITH ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE OR OTHER DEMENTIA
331

332  Section

333 300.7000 Applicability

334  300.7010 Admission Criteria

335 300.7020 Assessment and Care Planning

336  300.7030 Ability-Centered Care

337  300.7040 Activities

338  300.7050 Staffing

339  300.7060 Environment

340  300.7070 Quality Assessment and Improvement
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342
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Journal Job Titles
300.APPENDIX C  Federal Requirements Regarding Patients'/Residents' Rights (Repealed)
300.APPENDIX D  Forms for Day Care in Long-Term Care Facilities
300.APPENDIX E  Criteria for Activity Directors Who Need Only Minimal Consultation
(Repealed)
300.APPENDIX F  Guidelines for the Use of Various Drugs
300.APPENDIX G  Facility Report

300.TABLE A Sound Transmission Limitations in New Skilled Nursing and Intermediate
Care Facilities

300.TABLE B Pressure Relationships and Ventilation Rates of Certain Areas for New
Intermediate Care Facilities and Skilled Nursing Facilities

300.TABLE C Construction Types and Sprinkler Requirements for Existing Skilled
Nursing Facilities/Intermediate Care Facilities (Repealed)

300.TABLE D Heat Index Table/Apparent Temperature

AUTHORITY: Implementing and authorized by the Nursing Home Care Act [210 ILCS 45].

SOURCE: Emergency rules adopted at 4 1ll. Reg. 10, p. 1066, effective March 1, 1980, for a
maximum of 150 days; adopted at 4 1ll. Reg. 30, p. 311, effective July 28, 1980; emergency
amendment at 6 Ill. Reg. 3229, effective March 8, 1982, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at
6 Ill. Reg. 5981, effective May 3, 1982; amended at 6 Ill. Reg. 6454, effective May 14, 1982;
amended at 6 11l. Reg. 8198, effective June 29, 1982; amended at 6 Ill. Reg. 11631, effective
September 14, 1982; amended at 6 Ill. Reg. 14550 and 14554, effective November 8, 1982;
amended at 6 1ll. Reg. 14684, effective November 15, 1982; amended at 7 Ill. Reg. 285, effective
December 22, 1982; amended at 7 Ill. Reg. 1972, effective January 28, 1983; amended at 7 IlI.
Reg. 8579, effective July 11, 1983; amended at 7 1ll. Reg. 15831, effective November 10, 1983;
amended at 7 Ill. Reg. 15864, effective November 15, 1983; amended at 7 Ill. Reg. 16992,
effective December 14, 1983; amended at 8 Ill. Reg. 15599, 15603, and 15606, effective August
15, 1984; amended at 8 Ill. Reg. 15947, effective August 17, 1984; amended at 8 Ill. Reg. 16999,
effective September 5, 1984; codified at 8 Ill. Reg. 19766; amended at 8 Ill. Reg. 24186,
effective November 29, 1984; amended at 8 Ill. Reg. 24668, effective December 7, 1984;
amended at 8 Ill. Reg. 25102, effective December 14, 1984; amended at 9 Ill. Reg. 132, effective
December 26, 1984; amended at 9 Ill. Reg. 4087, effective March 15, 1985; amended at 9 IlI.
Reg. 11049, effective July 1, 1985; amended at 11 Ill. Reg. 16927, effective October 1, 1987,
amended at 12 Ill. Reg. 1052, effective December 24, 1987; amended at 12 1ll. Reg. 16811,
effective October 1, 1988; emergency amendment at 12 1ll. Reg. 18477, effective October 24,
1988, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired March 23, 1989; amended at 13 Ill. Reg.
4684, effective March 24, 1989; amended at 13 Ill. Reg. 5134, effective April 1, 1989; amended
at 13 Ill. Reg. 20089, effective December 1, 1989; amended at 14 Ill. Reg. 14950, effective
October 1, 1990; amended at 15 Ill. Reg. 554, effective January 1, 1991; amended at 16 Ill. Reg.
681, effective January 1, 1992; amended at 16 Ill. Reg. 5977, effective March 27, 1992; amended
at 16 11l. Reg. 17089, effective November 3, 1992; emergency amendment at 17 Ill. Reg. 2420,
effective February 3, 1993, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired on July 3, 1993;
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emergency amendment at 17 Ill. Reg. 8026, effective May 6, 1993, for a maximum of 150 days;
emergency expired on October 3, 1993; amended at 17 Ill. Reg. 15106, effective September 3,
1993; amended at 17 1ll. Reg. 16194, effective January 1, 1994; amended at 17 Ill. Reg. 19279,
effective October 26, 1993; amended at 17 1ll. Reg. 19604, effective November 4, 1993;
amended at 17 Ill. Reg. 21058, effective November 20, 1993; amended at 18 Ill. Reg. 1491,
effective January 14, 1994; amended at 18 Ill. Reg. 15868, effective October 15, 1994; amended
at 19 Ill. Reg. 11600, effective July 29, 1995; emergency amendment at 20 Ill. Reg. 567,
effective January 1, 1996, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired May 29, 1996;
amended at 20 Ill. Reg. 10142, effective July 15, 1996; amended at 20 Ill. Reg. 12208, effective
September 10, 1996; amended at 21 1ll. Reg. 15000, effective November 15, 1997; amended at
22 11l. Reg. 4094, effective February 13, 1998; amended at 22 Ill. Reg. 7218, effective April 15,
1998; amended at 22 1ll. Reg. 16609, effective September 18, 1998; amended at 23 Ill. Reg.
1103, effective January 15, 1999; amended at 23 Ill. Reg. 8106, effective July 15, 1999;
amended at 24 Ill. Reg. 17330, effective November 1, 2000; amended at 25 Ill. Reg. 4911,
effective April 1, 2001; amended at 26 Ill. Reg. 3113, effective February 15, 2002; amended at
26 11l. Reg. 4846, effective April 1, 2002; amended at 26 Ill. Reg. 10523, effective July 1, 2002;
emergency amendment at 27 Ill. Reg. 2181, effective February 1, 2003, for a maximum of 150
days; emergency expired June 30, 2003; emergency amendment at 27 Ill. Reg. 5452, effective
March 25, 2003, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired August 21, 2003; amended at
27 111. Reg. 5862, effective April 1, 2003; emergency amendment at 27 Ill. Reg. 14204, effective
August 15, 2003, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired January 11, 2004; amended at
27 11l. Reg. 15855, effective September 25, 2003; amended at 27 Ill. Reg. 18105, effective
November 15, 2003; expedited correction at 28 Ill. Reg. 3528, effective November 15, 2003;
amended at 28 Ill. Reg. 11180, effective July 22, 2004; amended at 28 Ill. Reg. 14623, effective
October 20, 2004; amended at 29 Ill. Reg. 876, effective December 22, 2004; emergency
amendment at 29 Ill. Reg. 11824, effective July 12, 2005, for a maximum of 150 days;
emergency rule modified in response to JCAR Recommendation at 29 Ill. Reg. 15101, effective
September 23, 2005, for the remainder of the maximum 150 days; emergency amendment
expired December 8, 2005; amended at 29 Ill. Reg. 12852, effective August 2, 2005; amended at
30 1ll. Reg. 1425, effective January 23, 2006; amended at 30 Ill. Reg. 5213, effective March 2,
2006; amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 6044, effective April 3, 2007; amended at 31 Ill. Reg. 8813,
effective June 6, 2007; amended at 33 Ill. Reg. 9356, effective June 17, 2009; amended at 34 111
Reg. 19182, effective November 23, 2010; amended at 35 Ill. Reg. 3378, effective February 14,
2011; amended at 35 Ill. Reg. 11419, effective June 29, 2011; expedited correction at 35 Ill. Reg.
17468, effective June 29, 2011; amended at 36 Ill. Reg. 14090, effective August 30, 2012;
amended at 37 Ill. Reg. 2298, effective February 4, 2013; amended at 37 1ll. Reg. 4954, effective
March 29, 2013; amended at 38 Ill. Reg. 22851, effective November 21, 2014; amended at 39 Il
Reg. 5456, effective March 25, 2015; amended at 41 Ill. Reg. 14811, effective November 15,
2017; amended at 43 Ill. Reg. 3536, effective February 28, 2019; emergency amendment at 44
Ill. Reg. 8521, effective May 5, 2020, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency amendment to
emergency rule at 44 Ill. Reg. 16264, effective September 15, 2020, for the remainder of the 150
days; emergency rule as amended expired October 1, 2020; emergency amendment at 44 Ill.
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Reg. 10217, effective May 28, 2020, for a maximum of 150 days; amended by emergency
amendment to emergency rule at 44 11l. Reg. 12931, effective July 14, 2020, for the remainder of
the 150 days; emergency rule as amended repealed at 44 Ill. Reg. 17790, effective October 23,
2020; emergency amendment at 44 1ll. Reg. 16894, effective October 2, 2020, for a maximum of
150 days; emergency rule expired February 28, 2021; emergency amendment at 44 Ill. Reg.
18462, effective October 23, 2020, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency rule expired March
21, 2021; emergency amendment at 44 1ll. Reg. 19551, effective December 2, 2020, for a
maximum of 150 days; emergency amendment to emergency rule at 45 Ill. Reg. 393, effective
December 18, 2020, for the remainder of the 150 days; emergency rule as amended expired April
30, 2021; amended at 45 Ill. Reg. 1134, effective January 8, 2021; emergency amendment at 45
Ill. Reg. 3046, effective March 1, 2021, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency amendment
repealed by emergency rulemaking at 45 Ill. Reg. 10087, effective July 25, 2021; emergency
amendment at 45 Ill. Reg. 4285, effective March 22, 2021, for a maximum of 150 days;
emergency expired August 18, 2021; emergency amendment at 45 Ill. Reg. 6354, effective May
1, 2021, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired September 27, 2021; emergency
amendment at 45 I1l. Reg. 9498, effective July 8, 2021, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency
amendment at 45 Ill. Reg. 10847, effective August 19, 2021, for a maximum of 150 days;
emergency amendment to emergency rule at 45 Ill. Reg. 12889, effective September 21, 2021,
for the remainder of the 150 days; emergency amendment to emergency rule at 45 Ill. Reg.
15127, effective November 9, 2021, for the remainder of the 150 days; emergency rule as
amended expired January 15, 2022; amended at 45 Ill. Reg. 11096, effective August 27, 2021;
emergency amendment at 45 Ill. Reg. 11941, effective September 17, 2021, for a maximum of
150 days; emergency amendment to emergency rule at 45 Ill. Reg. 14550, effective November 5,
2021, for the remainder of the 150 days; emergency expired February 13, 2022; emergency
amendment at 45 Ill. Reg. 13108, effective September 28, 2021, for a maximum of 150 days;
emergency expired February 24, 2022; emergency amendment at 45 Ill. Reg. 14003, effective
October 22, 2021, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired March 20, 2022; amended at
45 11l. Reg. 13953, effective October 25, 2021; expedited correction at 46 1ll. Reg. 4157,
effective October 25, 2021; emergency amendment at 46 Ill. Reg. 1928, effective January 16,
2022, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency amendment at 46 Ill. Reg. 3243, effective
February 14, 2022, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency expired July 13, 2022; emergency
amendment at 46 Ill. Reg. 4136, effective February 25, 2022, for a maximum of 150 days;
emergency expired July 24, 2022; emergency amendment at 46 Ill. Reg. 5554, effective March
21, 2022, for a maximum of 150 days; amended at 46 1ll. Reg. 6033, effective April 1, 2022;
amended at 46 Ill. Reg. 10460, effective May 31, 2022; emergency amendment at 46 Ill. Reg.
13378, effective July 14, 2022, for a maximum of 150 days; emergency amendment to
emergency rule at 46 Ill. Reg. 16428, effective September 19, 2022, for the remainder of the 150
days; emergency amendment to emergency rule at 46 1ll. Reg. 18219, effective October 31,
2022, for the remainder of the 150 days; emergency expired December 10, 2022; amended at 46
. Reg. 14237, effective July 27, 2022; amended at 46 1ll. Reg. 16829, effective September 26,
2022; emergency amendment at 46 Ill. Reg. 20243, effective December 11, 2022, for a
maximum of 150 days; emergency expired May 9, 2023; amended at 47 Ill. Reg. 7717, effective
May 17, 2023; amended at 48 Ill. Reg. 3317, effective February 16, 2024; amended at 48 Il
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Reg. 9947, effective June 21, 2024; amended at 48 Ill. Reg. 13796, effective August 28, 2024;
amended at 49 Ill. Reg. 760, effective December 31, 2024; Subchapter ¢ recodified at 49 Ill. Reg.
2245; amended at 49 Ill. Reg. 4670, effective March 25, 2025; amended at 49 1ll. Reg. 6468,
effective April 22, 2025; amended at 49 1ll. Reg. 11527, effective August 26, 2025; amended at
50 Ill. Reg. , effective :

SUBPART A: GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 300.330 Definitions

Abuse — any physical or mental injury or sexual assault inflicted on a resident
other than by accidental means in a facility. (Section 1-103 of the Act)

Abuse means:

Physical abuse refers to the infliction of injury on a resident that

occurs other than by accidental means and that requires (whether

or not actually given) medical attention.

Mental injury arises from the following types of conduct:
Verbal abuse refers to the use by a licensee, employee or
agent of oral, written or gestured language that includes
disparaging and derogatory terms to residents or within
their hearing or seeing distance, regardless of their age,
ability to comprehend or disability.
Mental abuse includes, but is not limited to, humiliation,
harassment, threats of punishment or deprivation, or
offensive physical contact by a licensee, employee or agent.

Sexual harassment or sexual coercion perpetrated by a
licensee, employee or agent.

Sexual assault.
Access — the right to:
Enter any facility;

Communicate privately and without restriction with any resident who
consents to the communication;
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Seek consent to communicate privately and without restriction with any
resident;

Inspect the clinical and other records of a resident with the express
written consent of the resident;

Observe all areas of the facility except the living area of any resident who
protests the observation. (Section 1-104 of the Act)

Act — as used in this Part, the Nursing Home Care Act.

Activity Program — a specific planned program of varied group and individual
activities geared to the individual resident's needs and available for a reasonable
number of hours each day.

Adaptive Behavior — the effectiveness or degree with which the individual meets
the standards of personal independence and social responsibility expected of the
individual's age and cultural group.

Adaptive Equipment — a physical or mechanical device, material or equipment
attached or adjacent to the resident's body that may restrict freedom of movement
or normal access to one's body, the purpose of which is to permit or encourage
movement, or to provide opportunities for increased functioning, or to prevent
contractures or deformities. Adaptive equipment is not a physical restraint. No
matter the purpose, adaptive equipment does not include any device, material or
method described in Section 300.680 of this Part as a physical restraint.

Addition — any construction attached to the original building that increases the
area or cubic content of the building.

Adequate or Satisfactory or Sufficient — enough in either quantity or quality, as
determined by a reasonable person familiar with the professional standards of the
subject under review, to meet the needs of the residents of a facility under the
particular set of circumstances in existence at the time of review.

Administrative Warning — a notice to a facility issued by the Department under
Section 300.277 of this Part and Section 3-303.2 of the Act that indicates that a
situation, condition, or practice in the facility violates the Act or the Department's
rules, but is not a Type AA, Type A, Type B, or Type C violation.

Administrator — a person who is charged with the general administration and
supervision of a facility and licensed, if required, under the Nursing Home
Administrators Licensing and Disciplinary Act. (Section 1-105 of the Act)
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Advocate — a person who represents the rights and interests of an individual as
though they were the person's own, in order to realize the rights to which the
individual is entitled, obtain needed services, and remove barriers to meeting the
individual's needs.

Affiliate — means:
With respect to a partnership, each partner thereof.

With respect to a corporation, each officer, director and stockholder
thereof.

With respect to a natural person: any person related in the first degree of
kinship to that person; each partnership and each partner thereof of which
that person or any affiliate of that person is a partner; and each
corporation in which that person or any affiliate of that person is an
officer, director or stockholder. (Section 1-106 of the Act)

Aide or Orderly — any person providing direct personal care, training or
habilitation services to residents.

Alteration — any construction change or modification of an existing building that
does not increase the area or cubic content of the building.

Ambulatory Resident — a person who is physically and mentally capable of
walking without assistance, or is physically able with guidance to do so, including
the ascent and descent of stairs.

Applicant — any person making application for a license. (Section 1-107 of the
Act)

Appropriate — term used to indicate that a requirement is to be applied according
to the needs of a particular individual or situation.

Assessment — the use of an objective system with which to evaluate the physical,
social, developmental, behavioral, and psychosocial aspects of an individual.

Audiologist — a person who is licensed as an audiologist under the Illinois
Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Practice Act.

Autism — a syndrome described as consisting of withdrawal, very inadequate
social relationships, exceptional object relationships, language disturbances and
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monotonously repetitive motor behavior.
Autoclave — an apparatus for sterilizing by superheated steam under pressure.

Basement — when used in this Part, any story or floor level below the main or
street floor. Where, due to grade difference, there are two levels that qualify as a
street floor, a basement is any floor below the level of the two street floors.
Basements shall not be counted in determining the height of a building in stories.

Behavior Modification — treatment to be used to establish or change behavior
patterns.

Cerebral Palsy — a disorder dating from birth or early infancy, nonprogressive,
characterized by examples of aberrations of motor function (paralysis, weakness,
incoordination) and often other manifestations of organic brain damage such as
sensory disorders, seizures, learning difficulty and behavior disorders.

Certification for Title XVIII and XIX — the issuance of a document by the
Department to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services or the
Department of Healthcare and Family Services verifying compliance with
applicable statutory or regulatory requirements for the purposes of participation as
a provider of care and service in a specific federal or State health program.

Certified Nursing Assistant — any person who meets the requirements of 77 1l1.
Adm. Code 395 and who provides nursing care or personal care to residents of
facilities, regardless of title, and who is not otherwise licensed, certified or
registered by the Department of Financial and Professional Regulation to render
medical care. Certified nursing assistants shall function under the supervision of
a licensed nurse.

Charge Nurse — a registered professional nurse or a licensed practical nurse in
charge of the nursing activities for a specific unit or floor during a shift.

Chemical Restraint — any drug that is used for discipline or convenience and is
not required to treat medical symptoms or behavior manifestations of mental
illness. (Section 2-106 of the Act)

Colbert Consent Decree — Colbert et al. v. Pritzker et al., Case No. 07 C 4737,
United States District Court, N.D. Illinois, Eastern Division.

Colbert Consent Decree Class Members or Colbert Class Members — all
Medicaid-eligible adults with disabilities in Cook County, Illinois, who are being,
or may in the future be, unnecessarily confined to nursing facilities and who, with
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appropriate supports and services, may be able to live in a community setting.
Colbert Consent Decree Defendant Agencies — the Illinois Department of Human
Services, the Illinois Department of Public Health, the Illinois Department on
Aging, and the Illinois Department of Healthcare and Family Services, including
any successor to these departments.

Community Alternatives — service programs in the community provided as an
alternative to institutionalization.

Continuing Care Contract — a contract through which a facility agrees to
supplement all forms of financial support for a resident throughout the remainder
of the resident's life.

Contract — a binding agreement between a resident or the resident's guardian (or,
if the resident is a minor, the resident's parent) and the facility or its agent.

Dentist — any person licensed to practice dentistry, including persons holding a
Temporary Certificate of Registration, as provided in the Illinois Dental Practice
Act.
Department — the Department of Public Health. (Section 1-109 of the Act)
Developmental Disability — means a severe, chronic disability of a person which:
is attributable to a mental or physical impairment or combination of
mental and physical impairments, such as intellectual disability, cerebral
palsy, epilepsy, autism;
is manifested before the person attains age 22;

is likely to continue indefinitely;

results in substantial functional limitations in 3 or more of the following
areas of major life activity:

self-care,
receptive and expressive language,
learning,

mobility,
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self-direction,
capacity for independent living, and
economic self-sufficiency; and

reflects the person's need for combination and sequence of special,
interdisciplinary or generic care, treatment or other services which are of
lifelong or extended duration and are individually planned and
coordinated. (Section 3-801.1 of the Act)

Dietetic Service Supervisor — a person who:
is a dietitian;

is a graduate of a dietetic and nutrition school or program authorized by
the Accreditation Council for Education in Nutrition and Dietetics, the
Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, or the American Clinical Board of
Nutrition;

is a graduate, prior to July 1, 1990, of a Department-approved course that
provided 90 or more hours of classroom instruction in food service
supervision and has had experience as a supervisor in a health care
institution which included consultation from a dietitian;

has successfully completed an Association of Nutrition & Foodservice
Professionals approved Certified Dietary Manager or Certified Food
Protection Professional course;

is certified as a Certified Dietary Manager or Certified Food Protection
Professional by the Association of Nutrition & Foodservice Professionals;
or

has training and experience in food service supervision and management
in a military service equivalent in content to the programs in the second,
third or fourth paragraph of this definition.

Dietitian — a person who is a licensed dietitian nutritionist as defined in the
Dietitian Nutritionist Practice Act.

Direct Supervision — under the guidance and direction of a supervisor who is
responsible for the work, who plans work and methods, who is available on short
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notice to answer questions and deal with problems that are not strictly routine,
who regularly reviews the work performed, and who is accountable for the results.

Director — the Director of Public Health or the Director's designee. (Section 1-
110 of the Act)

Director of Nursing Service — the full-time registered professional nurse who is
directly responsible for the immediate supervision of the nursing services.

Discharge — the full release of any resident from a facility. (Section 1-111 of the
Act)

Discipline — any action taken by the facility for the purpose of punishing or
penalizing residents.

Distinct Part — an entire, physically identifiable unit consisting of all of the beds
within that unit and having facilities meeting the standards applicable to the levels
of service to be provided. Staff and services for a distinct part are established as
set forth in the respective regulations governing the levels of services approved
for the distinct part.

Emergency — a situation, physical condition or one Or more practices, methods or
operations which present imminent danger of death or serious physical or mental
harm to residents of a facility. (Section 1-112 of the Act)

Epilepsy — a chronic symptom of cerebral dysfunction, characterized by recurrent
attacks, involving changes in the state of consciousness, sudden in onset, and of
brief duration. Many attacks are accompanied by a seizure in which the person
falls involuntarily.

Existing Facility — any facility initially licensed as a health care facility or
approved for construction by the Department, or any facility initially licensed or
operated by any other agency of the State of Illinois, prior to March 1, 1980.
Existing facilities shall meet the design and construction standards for existing
facilities for the level of long-term care for which the license (new or renewal) is
to be granted.

Exploitation — taking advantage of a resident for personal gain through the use of
manipulation, intimidation, threats or coercion.

Facility, Intermediate Care — a facility that provides basic nursing care and other
restorative services under periodic medical direction. Many of these services may
require skill in administration. These facilities are for residents who have long-
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term illnesses or disabilities that may have reached a relatively stable plateau.

Facility or Long-Term Care Facility — a private home, institution, building,
residence, or any other place, whether operated for profit or not, or a county
home for the infirm and chronically ill operated pursuant to Division 5-21 or 5-22
of the Counties Code, or any similar institution operated by a political
subdivision of the State of Illinois, which provides, through its ownership or
management, personal care, sheltered care or nursing for three or more persons,
not related to the applicant or owner by blood or marriage. It includes skilled
nursing facilities and intermediate care facilities as those terms are defined in
Title XVIII and Title XIX of the Federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. 1395 et
seq. and 1936 et seq.). It also includes homes, institutions, or other places
operated by or under the authority of the Illinois Department of Veterans' Affairs.
A "facility" may consist of more than one building as long as the buildings are on
the same tract, or adjacent tracts of land. However, there shall be no more than
one "facility” in any one building. "Facility" does not include the following:

A home, institution, or other place operated by the federal government or
agency thereof, or by the State of Illinois other than homes, institutions, or
other places operated by or under the authority of the Illinois Department
of Veterans' Affairs;

A hospital, sanitarium, or other institution whose principal activity or
business is the diagnosis, care, and treatment of human illness through the
maintenance and operation as organized facilities therefor, which is
required to be licensed under the Hospital Licensing Act;

Any "facility for child care" as defined in the Child Care Act of 19609;

Any "community living facility” as defined in the Community Living
Facilities Licensing Act;

Any nursing home or sanatorium operated solely by and for persons who
rely exclusively upon treatment by spiritual means through prayer, in
accordance with the creed or tenets of any well-recognized church or
religious denomination. However, the nursing home or sanatorium shall
comply with all local laws and rules relating to sanitation and safety;

Any facility licensed by the Department of Human Services as a
community-integrated living arrangement as defined in the Community-
Integrated Living Arrangements Licensure and Certification Act;

Any supportive residence licensed under the Supportive Residences
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Licensing Act;

Any supportive living facility in good standing with the program
established under Section 5-5.01a of the Illinois Public Aid Code, except
only for purposes of the employment of persons in accordance with
Section 3-206.01 of the Act;

Any assisted living or shared housing establishment licensed under the
Assisted Living and Shared Housing Act, except only for purposes of the
employment of persons in accordance with Section 3-206.01 of the Act;

An Alzheimer's disease management center alternative health care model
licensed under the Alternative Health Care Delivery Act;

A facility licensed under the ID/DD Community Care Act;

A facility licensed under the Specialized Mental Health Rehabilitation Act
of 2013;

A facility licensed under the MC/DD Act; or

A medical foster home, as defined in 38 CFR 17.73, that is under the
oversight of the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. (Section 1-113 of
the Act)

Facility, Skilled Nursing — when used in this Part is synonymous with a skilled
nursing facility. A skilled nursing facility provides skilled nursing care,
continuous skilled nursing observations, restorative nursing, and other services
under professional direction with frequent medical supervision. These facilities
are provided for patients who need the type of care and treatment required during
the post-acute phase of illness or during recurrences of symptoms in long-term
illness.

Financial Responsibility — having sufficient assets to provide adequate services
such as: staff, heat, laundry, foods, supplies, and utilities for at least a two-month
period of time.

Full-time — means on duty a minimum of 36 hours, four days per week.

Goal — an expected result or condition that involves a relatively long period of
time to achieve, that is specified in behavioral terms in a statement of relatively
broad scope, and that provides guidance in establishing specific, short-term
objectives directed toward its attainment.
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Governing Body — the policy-making authority, whether an individual or a group,
that exercises general direction over the affairs of a facility and establishes
policies concerning its operation and the welfare of the individuals it serves.

Guardian — a person appointed as a guardian of the person or guardian of the
estate, or both, of a resident under the Probate Act of 1975. (Section 1-114 of the
Act)

Habilitation — an effort directed toward the alleviation of a disability or toward
increasing a person's level of physical, mental, social or economic functioning.
Habilitation may include, but is not limited to, diagnosis, evaluation, medical
services, residential care, day care, special living arrangements, training,
education, sheltered employment, protective services, counseling and other
services.

Health Information Management Consultant — a person who is certified as a
Registered Health Information Administrator (RHIA) or a Registered Health
Information Technician (RHIT) by the American Health Information
Management Association; or is a graduate of a school of health information
management that is accredited jointly by the American Medical Association and
the American Health Information Management Association.

Health Services Supervisor (Director of Nursing Service) — the full-time
Registered Nurse who is directly responsible for the immediate supervision of the
health services in an Intermediate Care Facility.

High Risk Designation — a violation, as described in Section 300.282(i), of a
provision listed in Section 300.282(j) or in statute that has been identified by the
Department in Section 300.282(j) or designated in statute to be inherently
necessary to protect the health, safety, and welfare of a resident. (Section 1-
114.005 of the Act)

Hospitalization — the care and treatment of a person in a hospital as an inpatient.
Identified Offender — a person who:

Has been convicted of, found guilty of, adjudicated delinquent for, found
not guilty by reason of insanity for, or found unfit to stand trial for, any
felony offense listed in Section 25 of the Health Care Worker Background
Check Act, except for the following: a felony offense described in Section
10-5 of the Nurse Practice Act; a felony offense_described in Section 4, 5,
6, 8, or 17.02 of the Illinois Credit Card and Debit Card Act; a felony
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offense described in Section 5, 5.1, 5.2, 7, or 9 of the Cannabis Control
Act; a felony offense described in Section 401, 401.1, 404, 405, 405.1,
407, or 407.1 of the Illinois Controlled Substances Act; and a felony
offense described in the Methamphetamine Control and Community
Protection Act; or

Has been convicted of, adjudicated delinquent for, found not guilty by
reason of insanity for, or found unfit to stand trial for, any sex offense as
defined in subsection (c) of Section 10 of the Sex Offender Management
Board Act; or

Any other resident as determined by the Department of State Police.
(Section 1-114.01 of the Act)

Intellectual Disability — subaverage general intellectual functioning originating
during the developmental period and associated with maladaptive behavior.

Interdisciplinary Team — a group of persons that represents those professions,
disciplines, or service areas that are relevant to identifying an individual's
strengths and needs, and designs a program to meet those needs. This team shall
include at least a physician, a social worker and other professionals. The
Interdisciplinary Team includes the resident, the resident's guardian, the resident's
primary service providers, including staff most familiar with the resident; and
other appropriate professionals and caregivers as determined by the resident's
needs. The resident or his or her guardian may also invite other individuals to
meet with the Interdisciplinary Team and participate in the process of identifying
the resident's strengths and needs.

Lead Defendant Agency — State of Illinois Agency named in each fiscal year's
Implementation Plan as the lead agency for the Williams and Colbert Consent
Decrees on behalf of the Defendants._For the purposes of this definition,
"Implementation Plan" refers to the plan set forth in the Consent Decree, created
and implemented by the Defendants, with the input of the Monitor and Plaintiffs,
to accomplish the obligations and objectives set forth in the Decree.

Licensed Nursing Home Administrator — see "Administrator".

Licensed Practical Nurse — a person with a valid Illinois license to practice as a
practical nurse.

Licensee — the individual or entity licensed by the Department to operate the
facility. (Section 1-115 of the Act)
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Life Care Contract — a contract through which a facility agrees to provide
maintenance and care for a resident throughout the remainder of the resident's life.

Maintenance — food, shelter, and laundry services. (Section 1-116 of the Act)

Maladaptive Behavior — impairment in adaptive behavior as determined by a
clinical psychologist or by a physician. Impaired adaptive behavior may be
reflected in delayed maturation, reduced learning ability or inadequate social
adjustment.

Medical Ventilator (or assisted ventilation) — a mechanized device that enables
the delivery or movement of air and oxygen into the lungs of a patient whose
breathing has ceased, is failing, or is inadequate.

Misappropriation of a Resident's Property — the deliberate misplacement,
exploitation, or wrongful temporary or permanent use of a resident's belongings
or money without the resident's consent. (Section 1-116.5 of the Act)
Misappropriation of a resident's property includes failure to return valuables after
a resident's discharge; or failure to refund money after death or discharge when
there is an unused balance in the resident's personal account.

Monitor — a qualified person placed in a facility by the Department to observe
operations of the facility, assist the facility by advising it on how to comply with
the State regulations, and who reports periodically to the Department on the
operations of the facility.

Neglect — a facility's failure to provide, or willful withholding of, adequate
medical care, mental health treatment, psychiatric rehabilitation, personal care,
or assistance with activities of daily living that is necessary to avoid physical
harm, mental anguish, or mental illness of a resident. (Section 1-117 of the Act)
This shall include any allegation in which:

the alleged failure causing injury or deterioration is ongoing or repetitious;
or

a resident required medical treatment as a result of the alleged failure; or

the failure is alleged to have caused a noticeable negative impact on a
resident's health, behavior or activities for more than 24 hours.

New Facility — any facility initially licensed as a health care facility by the
Department, or any facility initially licensed or operated by any other agency of
the State of Illinois, on or after March 1, 1980. New facilities shall meet the
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design and construction standards for new facilities for the level of long-term care
for which the license (new or renewal) is to be granted.

Nurse — a registered professional nurse or a licensed practical nurse as defined
in the Nurse Practice Act. (Section 1-118 of the Act)

Nursing Care — a complex of activities that carries out the diagnostic, therapeutic,
and rehabilitative plan as prescribed by the physician; care for the resident's
environment; observing symptoms and reactions and taking necessary measures
to carry out nursing procedures involving understanding of cause and effect to
safeguard life and health.

Nursing Unit — a physically identifiable designated area of a facility consisting of
all the beds within the designated area, but having no more than 75 beds, none of
which are more than 120 feet from the nurse's station.

Objective — an expected result or condition that involves a relatively short period
of time to achieve, that is specified in behavioral terms, and that is related to the
achievement of a goal.

Occupational Therapist, Registered or OTR — a person who is registered as an
occupational therapist under the Illinois Occupational Therapy Practice Act.

Occupational Therapy Assistant — a person who is registered as a certified
occupational therapy assistant under the Illinois Occupational Therapy Practice
Act.

Operator — the person responsible for the control, maintenance and governance of
the facility, its personnel and physical plant.

Oversight — general watchfulness and appropriate reaction to meet the total needs
of the residents, exclusive of nursing or personal care. Oversight shall include,
but is not limited to, social, recreational and employment opportunities for
residents who, by reason of mental disability, or in the opinion of a licensed
physician, are in need of residential care.

Owner — the individual, partnership, corporation, association or other person
who owns a facility. In the event a facility is operated by a person who leases the
physical plant, which is owned by another person, "owner" means the person who
operates the facility, except that if the person who owns the physical plant is an
affiliate of the person who operates the facility and has significant control over
the day-to-day operations of the facility, the person who owns the physical plant
shall incur jointly and severally with the owner all liabilities imposed on an
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owner under the Act. (Section 1-119 of the Act)

Person — any individual, partnership, corporation, association, municipality,
political subdivision, trust, estate or other legal entity whatsoever.

Personal Care — assistance with meals, dressing, movement, bathing or other
personal needs or maintenance, or general supervision and oversight of the
physical and mental well-being of an individual who is incapable of maintaining a
private, independent residence or who is incapable of managing his person,
whether or not a guardian has been appointed for this individual. (Section 1-120
of the Act)

Pharmacist, Licensed — a person who holds a license as a pharmacist under the
Pharmacy Practice Act.

Physical Restraint — any manual method or physical or mechanical device,
material, or equipment attached or adjacent to a resident's body that the resident
cannot remove easily and which restricts freedom of movement or normal access
to one's body. (Section 2-106 of the Act)

Physical Therapist — a person who is registered as a physical therapist under the
Illinois Physical Therapy Act.

Physical Therapist Assistant — a person who has graduated from a two-year
college level program approved by the American Physical Therapy Association.

Physician — any person licensed to practice medicine in all its branches as
provided in the Medical Practice Act of 1987.

Probationary License — an initial license issued for a period of 120 days during
which time the Department will determine the qualifications of the applicant.

Provisional Admission Period — the time between the admission of an identified
offender as defined in Section 1-114.01 of the Act and this Section, and 3 days
following the admitting facility's receipt of an Identified Offender Report and
Recommendation in accordance with Section 2-201.6 of the Act. (Section 1-120.3
of the Act)

Psychiatric Services Rehabilitation Aide — an individual employed by a long-term
care facility to provide, for mentally ill residents, at a minimum, crisis
intervention, rehabilitation, and assistance with activities of daily living. (Section
1-120.7 of the Act)
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Psychiatrist — a physician who has had at least three years of formal training or
primary experience in the diagnosis and treatment of mental illness.

Psychologist — a person who is licensed to practice clinical psychology under the
Clinical Psychologist Licensing Act.

Qualified Professional — a person who meets the educational, technical and ethical
criteria of a health care profession, as evidenced by eligibility for membership in
an organization established by the profession for the purpose of recognizing those
persons who meet this criteria; and who is licensed, registered, or certified by the
State of Illinois, if required.

Reasonable Hour or Visiting Hours — any time between the hours of 10 a.m. and
8 p.m. daily. (Section 1-121 of the Act)

Registered Professional Nurse — a person with a valid license to practice as a
registered professional nurse under the Nurse Practice Act.

Repeat Violation — for purposes of assessing fines under Section 3-305 of the
Act, a violation that has been cited during one inspection of the facility for which
a subsequent inspection indicates that an accepted plan of correction was not
complied with, within a period of not more than 12 months from the issuance of
the initial violation. A repeat violation shall not be a new citation of the same
rule, unless the licensee is not substantially addressing the issue routinely
throughout the facility. (Section 3-305(7) of the Act)

Reputable Moral Character — having no history of a conviction of the applicant, or
if the applicant is a firm, partnership, or association, of any of its members, or of a
corporation, of any of its officers, or directors, or of the person designated to
manage or supervise the facility, of a felony, or of two or more misdemeanors
involving moral turpitude, as shown by a certified copy of the record of the court
of conviction, or in the case of the conviction of a misdemeanor by a court not of
record, as shown by other evidence; or other satisfactory evidence that the moral
character of the applicant, or manager, or supervisor of the facility is not
reputable.

Resident — person receiving personal or medical care, including but not limited
to mental health treatment, psychiatric rehabilitation, physical rehabilitation, and
assistance with activities of daily living, from a facility. (Section 1-122 of the Act)

Resident Services Director — the full-time administrator, or an individual on the
professional staff in the facility, who is directly responsible for the coordination
and monitoring of the residents’ overall plans of care in an intermediate care
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facility.

Resident's Representative — a person other than the owner, or an agent or
employee of a facility not related to the resident, designated in writing by a
resident to be his or her representative, or the resident's guardian, or the parent
of a minor resident for whom no guardian has been appointed. (Section 1-123 of
the Act)

Restorative Services or Restorative Measures — services or measures designed to
assist residents to attain and maintain the highest degree of function of which they
are capable (physical, mental, and social).

Room — a part of the inside of a facility that is partitioned continuously from floor
to ceiling with openings closed with glass or hinged doors.

Sanitization — the reduction of pathogenic organisms on a utensil surface to a safe
level, which is accomplished through the use of steam, hot water, or chemicals.

Seclusion — the retention of a resident alone in a room with a door that the
resident cannot open.

Self Preservation — the ability to follow directions and recognize impending
danger or emergency situations and react by avoiding or leaving the unsafe area.

Social Worker — a person who is a licensed social worker or a licensed clinical
social worker under the Clinical Social Work and Social Work Practice Act.

State Authorized Personnel — individuals who have a legal duty to provide
specified services to residents of long-term care facilities, including, but not
limited to, representatives of the Office of the State Long-Term Care Ombudsman
Program, the Office of State Guardian, and community-service providers or third
parties serving as agents of the State for purposes of providing telemedicine,
transitional services to community-based living, in-person assessments and
evaluations, legal services, and other supports related to existing consent decrees
court-mandated actions.

State Fire Marshal — the Fire Marshal of the Office of the State Fire Marshal,
Division of Fire Prevention.

Sterilization — the act or process of destroying completely all forms of microbial
life, including viruses.

Stockholder of a Corporation — any person who, directly or indirectly,
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beneficially owns, holds or has the power to vote, at least 5% of any class of
securities issued by the corporation. (Section 1-125 of the Act)

Story — when used in this Part, means that portion of a building between the upper
surface of any floor and the upper surface of the floor above except that the
topmost story shall be the portion of a building between the upper surface of the
topmost floor and the upper surface of the roof above.

Student Intern — any person whose total term of employment in any facility during
any 12-month period is equal to or less than 90 continuous days, and whose term
of employment:

is an academic credit requirement in a high school or undergraduate or
graduate institution; or

immediately succeeds a full quarter, semester or trimester of academic
enrollment in either a high school or undergraduate or graduate
institution, provided that this person is registered for another full quarter,
semester or trimester of academic enrollment in either a high school or
undergraduate institution which quarter, semester or trimester will
commence immediately following the term of employment; or

immediately succeeds graduation from the high school or undergraduate
or graduate institution. (Section 1-125.1 of the Act)

Substantial Compliance — meeting requirements except for variance from the
strict and literal performance that results in unimportant omissions or defects
given the particular circumstances involved. This definition is limited to the term
as used in Sections 300.140(a)(3) and 300.150(a)(3).

Substantial Failure — the failure to meet requirements other than a variance from
the strict and literal performance that results in unimportant omissions or defects
given the particular circumstances involved. This definition is limited to the term
as used in Section 300.165(b)(1).

Supervision — authoritative guidance by a qualified person for the
accomplishment of a function or activity within his or her sphere of competence.

Therapeutic Recreation Specialist — a person who is certified by the National
Council for Therapeutic Recreation Certification and who meets the minimum
standards it has established for classification as a Therapeutic Recreation
Specialist.
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Time Out — removing an individual from a situation that results in undesirable
behavior. It is a behavior modification procedure that is developed and
implemented under the supervision of a qualified professional.

Title XVIII — Title XVIII of the federal Social Security Act as now or hereafter
amended. (Section 1-126 of the Act)

Title XIX — Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act as now or hereafter
amended. (Section 1-127 of the Act)

Transfer — a change in status of a resident's living arrangements from one facility
to another facility. (Section 1-128 of the Act)

Type AA Violation — a violation of the Act or this Part which creates a condition
or occurrence relating to the operation and maintenance of a facility that
proximately caused a resident's death. (Section 1-128.5 of the Act)

Type A Violation — a violation of the Act or this Part that creates a condition or
occurrence relating to the operation and maintenance of a facility that creates a
substantial probability that the risk of death or serious mental or physical harm to
a resident will result therefrom or has resulted in actual physical or mental harm
to a resident. (Section 1-129 of the Act)

Type B Violation — a violation of the Act or this Part that creates a condition or
occurrence relating to the operation and maintenance of a facility that is more
likely than not to cause more than minimal physical or mental harm to a resident.
(Section 1-130 of the Act)

Type C Violation — a violation of the Act or this Part that creates a condition or
occurrence relating to the operation and maintenance of a facility that creates a
substantial probability that less than minimal physical or mental harm to a
resident will result therefrom. (Section 1-132 of the Act)

Unit — an entire physically identifiable residence area having facilities meeting
the standards applicable to the levels of service to be provided. Staff and services
for each distinct resident area are established as set forth in the respective rules
governing the approved levels of service.

Universal Progress Notes —a common record with periodic narrative
documentation by all persons involved in resident care.

Valid License — a license that is unsuspended, unrevoked and unexpired.
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(Source: Amended at 50 Ill. Reg. , effective )

SUBPART P: RESIDENT'S RIGHTS

Section 300.3300 Transfer or Discharge

a)

b)

A resident shall not be transferred or discharged in violation of the Act. A
resident may be discharged from a facility after the resident gives the
administrator, a physician, or a nurse of the facility written notice of their desire
to be discharged. If a guardian has been appointed for a resident or if the
resident is a minor, the resident shall be discharged upon written consent of their
guardian or if the resident is a minor, their parent unless there is a court order to
the contrary. In such cases, upon the resident's discharge, the facility is relieved
from any responsibility for the resident's care, safety or well-being. A resident
has the right to not be unlawfully transferred or discharged. (Section 2-111 of
the Act)

Each resident's rights regarding involuntary transfer or discharge from a facility
shall be as described in subsections (c) through (y) of this Section.

Reasons for Transfer or Discharge

1) A facility may involuntarily transfer or discharge a resident only for one
or more of the following reasons:

A) The facility is unable to meet the medical needs of the resident, as
documented in the resident's clinical record by the resident's
physicianster-medical-reasons;

B) Forfer the resident's physical safety;

C) Forfer the physical safety of other residents, the facility staff or
facility visitors; or

D) Forfor either late payment or nonpayment for the resident's stay,
except as prohibited by Titles XVIII and XIX of the federal Social
Security Act. For purposes of this Section, "late payment” means
non-receipt of payment after submission of a bill. If payment is not
received within 45 days after submission of a bill, a facility may
send a notice to the resident and responsible party requesting
payment within 30 days. If payment is not received within such 30
days, the facility may thereupon institute transfer or discharge
proceedings by sending a notice of transfer or discharge to the
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resident and responsible party by registered or certified mail. The
notice shall state, in addition to the requirements of Section 3-403
of the Act and subsection (e) of this Section, that the responsible
party has the right to pay the amount of the bill in full up to the
date the transfer or discharge is to be made and then the resident
shall have the right to remain in the facility. Such payment shall
terminate the transfer or discharge proceedings. This subsection
(c) does not apply to those residents whose care is provided under

the Illinois Public Aid Code.—(Section-3-401-of the-Act)

In the absence of other bases for transfer or discharge in subsection

(c)(1), unless the facility has complied with the prior notice and other

procedural requirements of the Act, a facility may not refuse to readmit a

resident following a medical leave of absence if the resident's need for

care does not exceed the provisions of the facility's license or current

services offered. (Section 3-401 of the Act)

Prohibition of Discrimination

A)

B)

A facility participating in the Medical Assistance Program is
prohibited from failing or refusing to retain as a resident any
person because the resident is a recipient of or an applicant for the
Medical Assistance Program. (Section 3-401.1(a) of the Act) For
the purposes of Section 3-401.1 of the Act, a recipient or applicant
shall be considered a resident in the facility during any hospital
stay totaling 10 days or less following a hospital admission.
(Section 3-401.1(a-10) of the Act) The day on which a resident is
discharged from the facility and admitted to the hospital shall be
considered the first day of the 10-day period.

A facility of which only a distinct part is certified to participate in
the Medical Assistance Program may refuse to retain as a resident
any person who resides in a part of the facility that does not
participate in the Medical Assistance Program and who is unable
to pay for the person's own care in the facility without Medical
Assistance only if:

i) The facility, no later than at the time of admission and at
the time of the resident’s contract renewal, explains to the
resident (unless the resident is incompetent), and to the
resident's representative, and to the person making
payment on behalf of the resident for the resident's stay, in
writing, that the facility may discharge the resident if the
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resident is no longer able to pay for the resident's care in
the facility without Medical Assistance;

The resident (unless the resident is incompetent), the
resident’s representative, and the person making payment
on behalf of the resident for the resident's stay
acknowledge in writing that they have received the written
explanation;

In circumstances where the Medicare coverage is ending
prior to the full 100-day benefit period, the facility provides
notice to the resident and to the resident's representative
that the resident’'s Medicare coverage will likely end in 5
days. This notification shall specify that the resident shall
not be required to move under this Section until these 5
days are up. In cases where the facility is notified in a
shorter time frame than 5 days by a managed care
organization or the time frame is shorter than 5 days due to
inaccurate reporting by an outside entity, the facility shall
provide a minimum of 2 days' notification. (Section 3-
401.1 (a-5) of the Act)

A facility which violates subsection (c)(2)(A) or (B) of this Section
shall be guilty of a business offense and fined not less than $500

nor more than $1,000 for the first offense and not less than $1,000
nor more than $5,000 for each subsequent offense. (Section 3-

401.1(b) of the Act)

Involuntary transfer or discharge of a resident from a facility shall be preceded
by the discussion required under subsection (j) of this Section and by a minimum
written notice of 3021 days, except in one of the following instances:

1)

2)

When an emergency transfer or discharge is ordered by the resident's
attending physician because of the resident's health care needs. The State
Long Term Care Ombudsman shall be notified at the time of the
emergency transfer or discharge; (Section 3-402(a) of the Act)

When the transfer or discharge is mandated by the physical safety of other
residents, the facility staff, or facility visitors, as documented in the
clinical record. The Department , the resident’s managed care
organization, if applicable, and the State Long Term Care Ombudsman

shall be notified prior to any such involuntary transfer or discharge. The
Department will immediately offer transfer, or discharge and relocation
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assistance to residents transferred or discharged under this subsection
(d)(2), and the Department may place relocation teams as provided in
Section 3-419 of the Act; or (Section 3-402(b) of the Act)

When an identified offender is within the provisional admission period
defined in Section 1-120.3 of the Act and Section 300.330 of this Part. If
the Identified Offender Report and Recommendation prepared under
Section 2-201.6 of the Act shows that the identified offender poses a
serious threat or danger to the physical safety of other residents, the
facility staff, or facility visitors in the admitting facility, and the facility
determines that it is unable to provide a safe environment for the other
residents, the facility staff, or facility visitors, the facility shall transfer or
discharge the identified offender within 3 days after its receipt of the
Identified Offender Report and Recommendation. (Section 3-402(c) of the
Act)

For transfer or discharge made under subsection (d), the notice of transfer or
discharge shall be made as soon as practicable before the transfer or discharge.
The notice required by subsection (d) shall be on a form prescribed by the
Department and shall contain all of the following:

1)

2)

3)

The stated reason for the proposed transfer or discharge; (Section 3-
403(a) of the Act)

The effective date of the proposed transfer or discharge; (Section 3-403(b)
of the Act)

A statement in not less than 12-point type, which reads:

"You have a right to appeal the facility's decision to transfer or discharge
you. If you think you should not have to leave this facility, you may file a
request for a hearing with the Department of Public Health within 10 days
after receiving this notice. If you request a hearing, it will be held not
later than 10 days after your request, and you generally will not be
transferred or discharged during that time. If the decision following the
hearing is not in your favor, you generally will not be transferred or
discharged prior to the expiration of 30 days following receipt of the
original notice of the transfer or discharge. A form to appeal the facility's
decision and to request a hearing is attached. If you have any questions,
call the Department of Public Health or the State Long Term Care
Ombudsman at the telephone numbers listed below."; (Section 3-403(c) of
the Act)
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4) A hearing request form, together with a postage paid, preaddressed
envelope to the Department; and (Section 3-403(d) of the Act)

5) The name, address, and telephone number of the person charged with the
responsibility of supervising the transfer or discharge. (Section 3-403(e)
of the Act)

A request for a hearing made under subsection (e) of this Section and Section 3-
403 of the Act shall stay a transfer or discharge pending a hearing or appeal of
the decision, unless a condition which would have allowed transfer or discharge
in less than 3021 days as described under subsections (d)(1) and (2) of this
Section develops in the interim. (Section 3-404 of the Act)

A copy of the notice required by subsection (d)(1) of this Section and Section 3-
402 of the Act shall be placed in the resident's clinical record and a copy shall be
transmitted to the Department, the State Long-Term Care Ombudsman, the
resident,-and the resident's representative, if any, and the resident's managed care
organization. (Section 3-405 of the Act)

When the basis for an involuntary transfer or discharge is the result of an action
by the Department of Healthcare and Family Services with respect to a recipient
of Title XIX and a hearing request is filed with the Department of Healthcare and
Family Services, the 21-day written notice period shall not begin until a final
decision in the matter is rendered by the Department of Healthcare and Family
Services or a court of competent jurisdiction and notice of that final decision is
received by the resident and the facility. (Section 3-406 of the Act)

When nonpayment is the basis for involuntary transfer or discharge, the resident
shall have the right to redeem up to the date that the discharge or transfer is to be
made and then shall have the right to remain in the facility. (Section 3-407 of the
Act)

The planned involuntary transfer or discharge shall be discussed with the
resident, the resident's representative and person or agency responsible for the
resident's placement, maintenance, and care in the facility. The explanation and
discussion of the reasons for involuntary transfer or discharge shall include the
facility administrator or other appropriate facility representative as the
administrator's designee. The content of the discussion and explanation shall be
summarized in writing and shall include the names of the individuals involved in
the discussions and made a part of the resident's clinical record. (Section 3-408
of the Act)

The facility shall offer the resident counseling services before the transfer or
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discharge of the resident. (Section 3-409 of the Act)

A resident subject to involuntary transfer or discharge from a facility, the
resident's guardian or if the resident is a minor, the resident's, shall have the
opportunity to file a request for a hearing with the Department within 10 days
following receipt of the written notice of the involuntary transfer or discharge by
the facility. (Section 3-410 of the Act)

The Department of Public Health, when the basis for involuntary transfer or
discharge is other than action by the Department of Healthcare and Family
Services with respect to the Title XIX Medicaid recipient, shall hold a hearing at
the resident's facility not later than 10 days after a hearing request is filed, and
render a decision within 14 days after the filing of the hearing request. {(Section

3-411 of the-Act)

1) The Department has continuing jurisdiction over the transfer or discharge
irrespective of the timing of the hearing and decision. Once a request for
a hearing is filed, the Department shall hold a hearing unless the request
is withdrawn by the resident.

2) If the request for hearing is withdrawn based upon a representation made
by the facility to the resident and the Department, including the hearing
officer, that a resident who has been denied readmission will be
readmitted, and the resident or resident representative notifies the
Department that the facility is still denying readmission, that facility's
failure to readmit the resident is considered a failure to comply with a
Department order to readmit pursuant to Section 3-305.6 of the Act, and
as a result, that facility shall be subject to applicable Department
enforcement action, permitted under the Act and Code including the
imposition of a $2,500 fine under Section 3-305.6 of the Act. (Section 3-
411 of the Act)

The hearing before the Department provided under subsection (m) of this Section
shall be conducted as prescribed under Section 3-703 of the Act. In determining
whether a transfer or discharge is authorized, the burden of proof in this hearing
rests on the person requesting the transfer or discharge. (Section 3-412 of the
Act)

If the Department determines that a transfer or discharge is authorized under
subsection (c) of this Section, the resident shall not be required to leave the
facility before the 34" day following receipt of the notice required under
subsection (d) of this Section, or the 10" day following receipt of the
Department's decision, whichever is later, unless a condition which would have
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allowed transfer or discharge in less than 3021 days as described under
subsections (d)(1) and (2) of this Section develops in the interim. The Department
maintains jurisdiction over the transfer or discharge irrespective of the timing of
the notice and discharge. (Section 3-413 of the Act)

If the Department determines that a transfer or discharge is not authorized under
Section 3-401 of the Act, then the Department will issue a written decision stating
that the transfer or discharge is denied. If the action of the facility giving rise to
the request for hearings is a facility's failure to readmit the resident following
hospitalization, other medical leave of absence, or other absence, then the
Department will order the immediate readmission of the resident to the facility.

1) The facility shall comply with the order immediately;

2) A copy of the Department's written decision shall be placed in the
resident's medical chart;

3) A surveyor will make an on-site inspection of the facility's compliance
with the order unless the resident or resident representative notifies the
Department in writing that there is compliance with the order. (Section 3-
413.1 of the Act)

The Department of Healthcare and Family Services shall continue Title XIX
Medicaid funding during the appeal, transfer, or discharge period for those
residents who are Title XIX recipients affected by subsection (c) of this Section.
(Section 3-414 of the Act)

The Department will transfer or discharge any resident from any facility required
to be licensed under the Act and this Part when any of the following conditions
exist:

1) The facility is operating without a license; (Section 3-415(a) of the Act)

2) The Department has suspended, revoked or refused to renew the license of
the facility as provided under Section 3-119 of the Act. (Section 3-415(b)
of the Act)

3) The facility has requested the aid of the Department in the transfer or
discharge of the resident and the Department finds that the resident
consents to transfer or discharge; (Section 3-415(c) of the Act)

4) The facility is closing or intends to close and adequate arrangement for
relocation of the resident has not been made at least 30 days prior to
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closure; or (Section 3-415(d) of the Act)

5) The Department determines that an emergency exists which requires
immediate transfer or discharge of the resident. (Section 3-415(e) of the
Act)

In deciding to transfer or discharge a resident from a facility under subsection (q)
of this Section, the Department will consider the likelihood of serious harm which
may result if the resident remains in the facility. (Section 3-416 of the Act)

The Department will offer transfer or discharge and relocation assistance to
residents transferred or discharged under subsections (c) through (q) of this
Section, including information on available alternative placements. Residents
shall be involved in planning the transfer or discharge and shall choose among
the available alternative placements, except that where an emergency makes prior
resident involvement impossible, the Department will make a temporary
placement until a final placement can be arranged. Residents may choose their
final alternative placement and shall be given assistance in transferring to such
place. No resident shall be forced to remain in a temporary or permanent
placement. When the Department makes or participates in making the relocation
decision, consideration shall be given to proximity to the resident's relatives and
friends. The resident shall be allowed 3 visits to potential alternative placements
prior to removal, except where medically contraindicated or where the need for
immediate transfer or discharge requires reduction in the number of visits. When
the Department provides information on available alternative placements in
community-based settings for individuals being discharged or transferred from
facilities licensed under the Act, the information must include a comprehensive
list of a range of appropriate, client-oriented services and the name of and
contact information for the ADA coordinator in the relocation locale. The
comprehensive list must include the name and contact information for each
agency or organization providing those services and a summary of the services
provided by each agency or organization. A hotline or similar crisis telephone
number must also be provided to individuals relocating into the community.
(Section 3-417 of the Act)

The Department will prepare resident transfer or discharge plans to assure safe
and orderly removals and protect residents' health, safety, welfare and rights. In
nonemergencies and where possible in emergencies, the Department will design
and implement such plans in advance of transfer or discharge. (Section 3-418 of
the Act)

The Department will place relocation teams in any facility from which residents
are being discharged or transferred for any reason, for the purpose of
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implementing transfer or discharge plans. (Section 3-419 of the Act)

In any transfer or discharge conducted under subsections (q) through (t) of this
Section the Department will:

1) Provide written notice to the facility prior to the transfer or discharge.
The notice will state the basis for the order of transfer or discharge and
will inform the facility of its right to an informal conference prior to
transfer or discharge under this Section, and its right to a subsequent
hearing under subsection (x) of this Section. If a facility desires to contest
a nonemergency transfer or discharge, prior to transfer or discharge it
shall, within four working days after receipt of the notice, send a written
request for an informal conference to the Department. The Department
will, within four working days from the receipt of the request, hold an
informal conference in the county in which the facility is located.
Following this conference, the Department will affirm, modify or overrule
its previous decision. Except in an emergency, transfer or discharge shall
not begin until the period for requesting a conference has passed or, if a
conference is requested, until after a conference has been held; and
(Section 3-420(a) of the Act)

2) Provide written notice to any resident to be removed, to the resident's
representative, if any, and to a member of the resident’s family, where
practicable, prior to the removal. The notice will state the reason for
which transfer or discharge is ordered and will inform the resident of the
resident’s right to challenge the transfer or discharge under subsection (x)
of this Section. The Department will hold an informal conference with the
resident or the resident's representative prior to transfer or discharge at
which the resident or the representative may present any objections to the
proposed transfer or discharge plan or alternative placement. (Section 3-
420(b) of the Act)

In any transfer or discharge conducted under subsection (q)(5) of this Section, the
Department will notify the facility and any resident to be removed that an
emergency has been found to exist and removal has been ordered, and will
involve the residents in removal planning if possible. With the consent of the
resident or the resident's representative, the facility must inform the resident's
designated care coordination unit, as defined in 89 Ill. Adm. Code 240.260, of the
resident's pending discharge and must provide the resident or the resident's
representative with the care coordination unit's telephone number and other
contact information. Following emergency removal, the Department will provide
written notice to the facility, to the resident, to the resident's representative, if
any, and to a member of the resident's family, where practicable, of the basis for
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the finding that an emergency existed and of the right to challenge removal under
subsection (x) of this Section. (Section 3-421 of the Act)

Within ten days following transfer or discharge, the facility or any resident
transferred or discharged may send a written request to the Department for a
hearing under Section 3-703 of the Act to challenge the transfer or discharge.
The Department will hold the hearing within 30 days after receipt of the request.
The hearing will be held at the facility from which the resident is being
transferred or discharged, unless the resident or resident's representative
requests an alternative hearing site. If the facility prevails, it may file a claim
against the State under the Court of Claims Act for payments lost less expenses
saved as a result of the transfer or discharge. No resident transferred or
discharged may be held liable for the charge for care which would have been
made had the resident remained in the facility. If a resident prevails, the resident
may file a claim against the State under the Court of Claims Act for any excess
expenses directly caused by the order to transfer or discharge. The Department
will assist the resident in returning to the facility if assistance is requested.
(Section 3-422 of the Act)

The administrator of a facility licensed under the Act shall give 60 days notice
prior to voluntarily closing a facility or closing any part of a facility, or prior to
closing any part of a facility if closing such part will require the transfer or
discharge of more than 10% of the residents. Such notice shall be given to the
Department, to the Office of State Long Term Care Ombudsman, to any resident
who must be transferred or discharged, to the resident's representative, and to a
member of the resident's family, where practicable. If the Department suspends,
revokes, or denies renewal of the facility's license, then notice shall be given no
later than the date specified by the Department. Notice shall state the proposed
date of closing and the reason for closing. The facility shall submit a closure plan
to the Department for approval which shall address the process for the safe and
orderly transfer of residents. The approved plan shall be included in the notice.
The facility shall offer to assist the resident in securing an alternative placement
and shall advise the resident on available alternatives. When the resident is
unable to choose an alternate placement and is not under guardianship, the
Department shall be notified of the need for relocation assistance. A facility
closing in its entirety shall not admit any new residents on or after the date
written notice is submitted to the Department under the Act and this Part. The
facility shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations until the date of
closing, including those related to transfer or discharge of residents. The
Department will place a relocation team in the facility as provided under
subsection (u) of this Section. (Section 3-423 of the Act)

(Source: Amended at 50 Ill. Reg. , effective )
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Section 300.3305 Department Ordered Readmission of a Resident

a)

A facility that complies with an order of the Department to readmit a resident that
has been deemed to have been unlawfully discharged shall notify the Department
within 10 business days after the resident has been readmitted to the facility. The
notice provided to the Department shall include, but not be limited to, the
following information:

1 The executed order to readmit the resident that was issued by the
Department;

2) The Administrative Law Judge's Report and Recommendations submitted
by the administrative law judge;

3) The reason or reasons for which the resident was involuntarily discharged
and an explanation of why the facility determined it should discharge the
resident prior to the order to readmit;

4) The interventions the facility had taken to attempt to mitigate or correct
the behavior or condition of the resident who was involuntarily discharged
and ordered to be readmitted;

5) Any concerns that the facility maintains about risks to safety associated
with readmission of the resident; and

6) A copy of the resident's current face sheet that indicates the readmission
date. Unique identifiers, such as the resident's social security number and
Medicare, Medicaid, or insurance number shall be redacted.

Upon readmission of a resident following an executed order by the Department,
the facility shall conduct a reassessment of the resident to determine any
necessary changes to the resident's care plan. The assessment shall include
identification of any steps the facility could take to attempt to mitigate or correct
the behavior or condition of the resident that resulted in the resident being
involuntarily discharged.

If a resident whose readmission was ordered by the Department engages in
conduct similar to that which led to the resident’s involuntary discharge and for
which the facility documented concerns pursuant to subsection (a), the
Department shall take into account the notice provided by the facility under this
Section in considering whether to impose a fine. (Section 3-305.7 of the Act)
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1720 d) Facility Noncompliance with a Department Transfer or Discharge Order to

1721 Readmit. A facility that fails to comply with an order of the Department to

1722 readmit a resident, issued pursuant to Section 3-703 and 3-707 of the Act, who
1723 wishes to return to the facility and is appropriate for the level of care and services
1724 provided by the facility, shall be assessed a $2,500 fine by the Department. As
1725 used in this subsection (d), "comply with an order" means that a resident is living
1726 in a facility or that a facility and a resident have agreed on a schedule for

1727 readmission. (Section 3-305.6 of the Act)

1728

1729 (Source: Added at 50 IlI. Reg. , effective )




